RECEIVED, 3/15/2013 13:48:32, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY LEE HURST,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-1947

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

1

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0271543 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET, STE. 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8517 <u>david.davis@flpd2.com</u> ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to herein as either "defendant," "appellant," or by his proper name. References to the 9 volume record shall be by the volume number in Arabic numerals, followed by the appropriate page number, both in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Timothy Hurst, was convicted of one count of first degree murder, and was sentenced him to death for a murder committed on May 2, 1998. This Court affirmed that conviction and sentence. *Hurst v. State*, 819 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 2002).

He then filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Rule 3.851, Fla. R. Crim. P, which the trial court denied. On appeal, this Court granted partial relief, vacated the sentence of death, and remanded for a new sentencing hearing before a jury. *Hurst v. State*, 18 So. 3d 975 (Fla. 2009).

On remand, Hurst filed a "Motion to Declare Defendant's Mental Retardation as a Bar to Execution and Request for Hearing" (2 R 309–12), which the court denied (2 R 313-17). He proceeded to the sentencing phase trial before Judge Linda Nobles, and the jury, after it had heard the evidence, arguments, and instructions on the law, recommended she impose a sentence of death by a vote of 7-5 (3 R 463). The court followed that verdict and justifying a sentence of death it found in aggravation that:

1. Hurst committed the murder during the course of a robbery. Great weight.

The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Great weight.
 (3 R 577-78).

The court found the following statutory mitigators:

1. Hurst has no significant history of prior criminal activity. Moderate weight.

2. The age of the defendant at the time of the crime. Moderate weight. (3 R 579, 582-83)

It also found as non-statutory mitigation that the defendant has limited intellectual capacity. The court may have found Hurst suffered from Fetal Alcohol Syndrome, had widespread abnormalities in his brain, "including the frontal lobe area, which is crucial to judgment and impulse control." If so, it did not explicitly consider this as mitigation and assign them any weight (3 R 583-85).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The State's case

On May 2, 1998, Hurst and Cynthia Harrison worked a Popeye's restaurant on Nine Mile Road in Escambia County. It normally opened at 10:30 a.m. so Harrison, an assistant manager, got there between 7:15 and 7:30 a.m., and Hurst showed up between 7:30 to 8:30 a.m. to prepare for the anticipated day's business (6 R 330)

Shortly after 8:00 a.m., Anthony Brown, another employee, arrived only to find the door locked, although he saw Harrison's car in the parking lot (6 R 248). Sometime later a delivery truck arrived, and the driver and Brown waited outside the restaurant until another assistant manager arrived at about 10:30 a.m. (6 R 256).

When they went inside they found the safe open and the previous day's receipts and \$375 in small bills for use by the cashiers to make change missing (6 R 257, 307). Harrison's body was discovered inside the freezer with her hands bound behind her back with electrical tape and with tape around her face (6 R 251, 439). A significant amount of the victim's blood was present behind the counter near the freezer (6 R 271).

Harrison suffered at least sixty slash and stab wounds to her face, neck, back, torso, and arms (7 R 435-36). Several of the wounds could have been immediately

fatal (7 R 437-40), and she probably lived no longer than 15 or 20 minutes (7 R 441-42). A box cutter, not of the type used at Popeye's and with her blood on it was found nearby, and her wounds were consistent with the use of that type of weapon (6 R 308-309).

Fifteen-year-old Lee ("Lee-Lee") Smith said that two or three days before the murder, Hurst said he was going to rob Popeye's (6 R 342-43, 369). On the morning of the murder, Hurst went to Smith's house and told Smith that he had done so and cut Harrison (6 R 344). He brought a little over a thousand dollars with him, put it in a container, and hid it in Smith's room (6 R 345-46). Smith washed Hurst's bloody pants and threw away his socks and shoes, along with some other items (6 R 344-47). Later that same morning, they went to a Wal-Mart where the defendant bought a new pair of shoes (6 R 348). They also went to a pawn shop near the Wal-Mart where Hurst saw some rings he wanted to buy. After retrieving some of the stolen money, he returned and bought them (6 R 349).¹

Smith's parents, who were out of town on the day of the murder, returned on May 3, and were contacted by the police who found a coin purse containing Harrison's driver's license in a garbage can located in Smith's yard (6 R 390-91). They also found a bank bag, a deposit slip with three of Hurst's fingerprints, and a

¹ Smith was charged with accessory after the fact to the murder (6 R 368).

bloodstained sock with DNA typing consistent with Harrison (7 R 421). Smith's father also gave the police a "big old pair" of tennis shoes, which had been found in the trash can at his home (6 R 346, 372-73, 377).

In a tape recording of Hurst's interview with the police several days after the murder, Hurst said he had been on his way to work on May 2 when his car broke down. He said he telephoned Harrison to say he would not be in and that during the conversation she sounded scared (9 R 750, 752-53). He also told the police that he then went to Smith's house, changed out of his work clothes, and went to the pawn shop where he bought necklaces for friends. In the taped interview, he did not mention buying the three rings at the pawn shop or buying new shoes at Wal-Mart that morning, although the investigative reports indicated that the Sheriff's investigators knew Hurst had gone to Wal-Mart and purchased new shoes.

Catherine Bares, Cynthia Harrison's sister, said that her family loved and would miss Cynthia (7 R 479-80).

B. The Defense case

Hurst's defense fell into three parts: First, he presented evidence suggesting that either he did not commit the murder or that his friend, 15-year-old Lee-Lee Smith had been involved in the murder with him. Second, he called his parents,

sisters, and teachers who knew Hurst. Finally, he presented the testimony of three experts who testified about the defendant's damaged brain and mental retardation.

1. The evidence that Hurst did not act alone or did not commit the murder.

On May 2, 1998, Hurst's mother had to wake him so he could go to work at Popeye's (7 R 535). When he got up he discovered he had car problems, and about 7:45 a.m. as his father went to work, he saw his son putting a battery in the car after having charged it overnight (7 R 515).

A couple of hours later, or about 10:45 a.m. Hurst and his 15-year-old friend, "Lee-Lee" Smith dropped by a cousin's house to enlist the aid of the cousin's father to help fix Hurst's car (7 R 491-92). He was dressed in his Popeye's uniform, which had no blood on it, and he acted normal (7 R 486, 493, 495, 526). Eventually he left because the cousin's father could not help him, and Hurst's mother had called (7 R 495).

Sometime between 8 and 9 o'clock that morning, Hurst and Smith played a video game with Hurst's brother. Again, the defendant was in uniform, which had no blood, and he acted as he usually did (7 R 525-26). Later they went to a local Wal-Mart where Hurst bought some shoes (7 R 526). They then went to a nearby pawn shop where Hurst, using money given to him by an Anthony Williams (a

friend of the cousin), bought two necklaces for the cousin who was underage and could not buy them (7 R 526-27). Hurst and the cousin returned to the cousin's home and stayed there for a while until the defendant eventually left (7 R 527).

2. The testimony of family, friends, and teachers.

Bertha Bradley, Hurst's mother, was 15 years old when she gave birth to Timothy (7 R 536). Throughout the pregnancy, she drank continuously "From the time I get up until the time I go to bed," every day (7 R 536). She had, as she said, a "taste for it."(7 R 536). Because of that, and that she loved to go out and leave him, the "court people" took her infant son away from her, but only for about three weeks (7 R 537).²

As Hurst grew, it became obvious that he was "slow, very slow." (7 R 537). When he talked he tended to slur his words, and even as an adult "He still talks funny."(7 R 538). He took a very long time to learn how to walk, (7 R 538), and predictably he did poorly in school no matter how hard he tried (7 R 539). Rather than putting him in special education classes, his mother insisted that he be treated as a normal child so he would not be picked on, which happened anyway (7 R 539).

 $^{^2\,}$ Mrs. Bradley also drank when she was pregnant with her other sons, and they also dropped out of school (7 R 548).

He apparently never got in trouble at school, probably because he stayed away and would not go to class (7 R 541).

Nonetheless, he was a good child, and the mother had "no problem" with him (7 R 541). But he could not dress himself appropriately for the weather, and his mother had to do it for him (7 R 542). He could not match his clothes, take a shower without being told, could not manage money, did not know how to go places without someone going with him, could not keep appointments, and use a bus (7 R 542-43).

He even did not have a good idea how to act at a restaurant. One time the family went to a buffet style restaurant, and instead of putting food on his plate, "he just went up there and took the whole tray and started eating–that's what he thought he was supposed to do." (7 R 544)

Hurst's father echoed much of what the defendant's mother had said. He developed slower than his younger sister, and he could not complete a list of tasks given to him without someone checking on him (7 R 516-17). He did poorly in school, never mastering either multiplication or division, and he "hardly ever read anything." (7 R 517) He could not complete a job application, he never had a bank account and could not manage his money. Instead his father had to do it for him (7 R 518). He could not cook for himself, even if the instructions were on the box.

The father did acknowledge that if someone stood by him he could probably follow the measurements in the instructions (7 R 519). Similarly, he could not follow directions, and even if he had a map "he would have to call and someone would have to give him more instructions." (7 R519-20).

Hurst's mother would keep most of his clothes clean, and someone would have to remind him to clean himself (7 R 520-21). If he had to make an appointment, if someone did not remind him of it, he would probably miss it (7 R 521).

Mr. Bradley also helped him buy a car, or rather, he bought the car for him, apparently after he got a driver's license (7 R 522-23). His mother, however, refused to ride with him because he always drove too slow. "[T]he rest of the traffic going 60, he' either going 25 or going 30." (7 R 543)

Men who had known Hurst while he was in high school also testified at the sentencing hearing. Calvin Harris, a high school administrator, came into regular contact with him. "Well, Tim didn't like going to class, and part of the problem was Tim was low functioning." (7 R 555) Most of the time when Mr. Harris searched for him, he would be at the gym playing basketball, something the coaches allowed because they "knew his academics wasn't up to par." (7 R 555) He was told he could not skip classes, but if he decided he was not going to class, he would "head

straight to the gymnasium to play basketball." (7 R 555). When Mr. Harris looked at his records he found out that although he was in high school, he had been socially promoted since middle school (7 R 556). Hurst could not even pass the High School Equivalency Test after taking it twice, something only about 3-5 percent of the student population failed. Harris believed his former student was at the maturity level of a 5th, 6th, or 7th grade student (7 R 557).

Jerome Chism, the principal at the East Charter School, also knew Hurst as a student, and saw him on a day to day basis (7 R 560). Students referred to his school typically were low achievers or behavior problems (7 R 560). Accordingly, Hurst, who was 18 or 19 when Chism knew him, behaved more like a 12- or 13-year-old child, and at times, had to be disciplined because of inappropriate behavior (7 R 560). He had an attention span "about 59½ seconds" and was teased by other kids at the school "quite often." (7 R 761)

Mr. Chism also vaguely recalled Hurst's 15-year-old friend, "Lee-Lee" Smith, who would often come to school to pick him up (7 R 562). Of the two boys, Smith would "definitely" be the leader and Hurst the follower (7 R 562).

3. The expert testimony of Dr. Harry Krop, Dr. Gordon Taub, and Dr. Joseph Wu.

Dr. Joseph Wu, an expert on the PET scan, which takes "pictures" of the brain from which he could tell if the patient suffered any type of neurological and psychiatric disorders (8 R 576). He examined Hurst, and discovered "several abnormalities with his scan." (8 R 602). First, he had widespread damage to his brain in the cortical region (8 R 602). Second, there was much less brain activity in the front portion of the brain than in the back (8 R 605). To Dr. Wu, this meant that with frontal lobe damage, that Hurst had significant deficits in his judgment and impulse control, thinking and cognition, and memory problems. "They are also going to have problems with judgment and the ability to regulate impulses."

And so you can have behaviors that can result in problems, like a learning impairment, like ADD type appearances, and so-so -brain increase of risk is having impairment in impulse control and judgment, as well as some problems with learning and memory. . . . When you have damage to the frontal lobe, you're going to have impairment and [an in]ability to regulate aggression.

(8 R 607-608)

He also said that people with damaged brains early in life are at a higher risk for acting out later in life (8 R 611). More specifically relevant to Hurst, the brain scan he saw of his was similar to that reported in people with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (8 R 612).

Dr. Harry Krop, a psychologist, administered the Weschler Adult Intelligence Scale, Fourth Revision (WAIS IV) to Hurst in January 2012 to determine his IQ. It was 69 (8 R 632). Several days later, he also administered the "Adaptive Behavior Assessment System," to measure Hurst' functioning in the community, school, at home, and other areas (8 R 627-29). In the four categories measured by this assessment, he "came out significantly deficient." (8 R635-36) In school he had a 1.2 grade point average, repeated 10th grade, and should have been in special education classes (8 R 637-38).

Dr. Krop, therefore, concluded that Hurst was mentally retarded, because "his overall thinking and reasoning abilities exceed those of only approximately two percent of the individuals his age." (8 R 637) He simply could not keep up with peers in situations requiring thinking and reasoning ability (8 R 637).

He also acknowledged that Dr. James Larson and a Dr. McClain had evaluated Hurst in 2003 using the WAIS III and concluded that he had an IQ between 77-78, clearly outside the retarded range (8 R 648-49).

After conducting some neuropsychological testing, Dr. Krop also concluded he was low average on most of those tests, and had either a borderline or mild impairment of his brain (8 R 639). In all likelihood, he had frontal temporal lobe damage, which is the part of the brain that controls such "executive" functions as

problem solving, judgment, impulse control, and inhibition (8 R 640). Moreover, because males mature later than females, even normally developed males 18 or 19 years old have frontal lobes that at that age are not fully developed, so they "take more risks, don't think ahead, and there inhibitions are lower and so forth." (8 R 640)

Dr. Gordon Taub specialized in the measurement of intelligence, and he was a coordinator for the Psychological Corporation, which published the Weschler Scales (8 R 637). He had, accordingly done hundreds and perhaps thousands of the WAIS series tests (8 R 658-59).

In particular, he testified about the several shortcomings of the WAIS III, the test Drs. Larson and McClain had used in 2004 to measure Hurst's IQ. Generally, studies have shown that the scores on the WAIS III increased by about 1/3 point per year since its introduction in 1981 (8 R 666). In Hurst's case, that meant that if he took the test in 1996, or 15 years after its first use, his IQ would be about 5 points higher than it should have been (8 R 666). In addition, the test itself was flawed in that several of the subtests essentially measured the same thing, and hence skewed the result (8 R 668). The test, as it turned out, also failed to adequately identify those in either the high end or low end of the intelligence scale (8 R 670). Specifically, it tended to under identify those who might be mentally retarded.

Finally, the WAIS IV in contrast to the WAIS III represented the most recent scholarship on intelligence, and the WAIS III. In fact all other intelligence tests were developed based on our understanding of the human brain as it was understood in 1939 (8 R 669). The WAIS IV, on the other hand, updated the norms that had reflected the inflated IQ scores, and incorporated the technological and theoretical advances in the understanding of intelligence since 1939 and especially 1997, which resulted in a significant improvement of the WAIS III and a more reliable measure of a person's intelligence (8 R 671-75, 678).

Hence, when Dr. Taub re-examined the WAIS III results for the evaluation given Hurst in 2004, he adjusted the full scale IQ from 78 to 69 (8 R 680).

Now, Dr. Taub also looked at his adaptive deficits scores, and they were "all very, very low." (8 R 684). He appeared to be "very impaired as well as far as self-caring and taking care of himself, communication." (8 R 685) Generalizing, he also said that the mentally retarded are not totally nonfunctional. Their ability to process information quickly is weak. "Their ability to hold information in their mind and do something with it is impaired." (8 R 698) "But realistically when we talk about mild retardation, we're looking at somebody like Forrest Gump . . . You can't tell a difference by looking at him. You can't even tell by engaging in casual conversation." (8 R 703) This meant that in Hurst's case, he could hold a job if the

tasks were repetitious, and he could drive a car (8 R 726). As to the latter skill, Dr. Taub did note that when Hurst drove it was "very, very slow," and he was "kind of scary" to be with (8 R 726).

As a result, Dr. Taub concluded that Hurst met the "legal criteria for mental retardation." (8 R 716)

C. The State's rebuttal case

Rebutting Hurst's mental retardation defense, the State called Dr. Harry McClaren. He admitted that the WAIS IV he had administered was unreliable because the same the defendant had been given that test a month earlier, and was hence unreliable because of the so-called "practice effect." (8 R 740). Instead, he relied on the WAIS III test administered several years earlier by Dr. Larson, finding it "Probably the most important one[]." (8 R 735) It had determined the defendant had an IQ of 76-78 (R). Then, "factoring all that information into your examination," Dr. McClaren concluded that not only did Hurst have an IQ above the retarded range, he also did not have significant deficits in his adaptive behavior (8 R 738-39).

He based this conclusion on several facts. First, he had never been given any intelligence testing by the Escambia County school system, despite "coming to the

attention of exceptional student services for a language disorder." (8 R 738) For that disability, he received attention for several years, but now his speech has become indistinct because he has had several teeth pulled (8 R 738). He also discounted any conclusion of significant deficits in adaptive behavior because it was not directly assessed by people that were living with him and knew him in any standardized way. Instead, "We have heard anecdotes and attempts to use the test of adaptive behavior, but you're asking people to go back in time 14 years . . .what they thought he usually did or did not do. So there is not information to support that." (8 R 738). In short, Dr. McClaren thought he may have had some "cognitive deficits that contribute to having stuttered as a child. I've noticed some tics in his eyebrows that could be neurological . . . But I do not believe he is mentally retarded." (8 R 739).

The State also had the investigating police officer play a tape recording of the interview between himself and Hurst in which the defendant recounted an essentially exculpatory story of what he had done on the morning of the murder (8 R 753-64).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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