IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY LEE HURST,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC12-1947

CLERN. SUPREME COU

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 Primary E-Mail: capapp@myfloridalegal.com Secondary E-Mail: Steve.White@myfloridalegal.com (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

See "THE MURDER AND SURROUNDING FACTS," supra.

The overwhelming HAC, coupled with the robbery, far outweigh Hurst's mitigation. Hurst's death penalty is proportionate.

ISSUE II (JURY DETERMINING ATKINS): DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO CONSIDER MENTAL RETARDATION AS A MITIGATOR AND NOT AS AN ABSOLUTE BAR TO THE DEATH PENALTY? (IB 38-47, RESTATED)

A. PROCEDURAL BARS.

This issue is procedurally barred by the prior postconviction proceedings. It was available to Hurst in the postconviction proceedings that resulted in this Court's remanding decision reported at Hurst v. State, 18 So.3d 975 (Fla. 2009) (case #SC07-1798). Hurst's October 2003 postconviction motion raised both a claim alleging that Hurst was mentally retarded under Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002) (at PCR[SC07-1798]/II 319-21) and a claim that attacked Florida's death penalty statutes and (2002) procedure under Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 PCR[SC07-1798]/II 322-43). However, Hurst failed to timely raise the jury must determine ISSUE II's claim that retardation.

In an opinion released on May 20, 2004, this Court promulgated the new mental-retardation procedure effective October 1, 2004. See Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 875 So.2d 563, 566 (Fla. 2004). The 2004 rule expressly provided that the judge determines the mental retardation issue. See Amendments..., 875 So.2d at 571. In the prior postconviction proceedings, the trial court did not render its final "Order denying Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence" until

August 23, 2007.²² Thus, Hurst had plenty of notice of the availability of this claim and could have raised it years prior to the 2007 order, but he did not.

In an apparent effort to incentivize defendants to raise their claims²³ to promote the timely processing of capital cases, this Court has applied the should-have/could-have-raised-earlier procedural bar in a wide array of situations. It should be applied here. See, e.g., Griffin v. State, 2013 WL 2096350, *16 (Fla. 2013) ("petition for extraordinary relief is not a second appeal and cannot be used to litigate or relitigate issues that were or could have been raised on direct appeal or in prior postconviction proceedings"); Barwick v. State, 88 So.3d 85, 94-95, 106, 111 (Fla. 2011) (claim concerning general jury qualification procedure; "Barwick did not raise this claim on direct appeal; therefore, the claim is procedurally barred"; arguments in "'habeas petition either could have been or in fact was raised in his motion filed pursuant to rule 3.851 ...

The clerk-date-stamped cover page of that order, which appeared in the prior postconviction record at PCR[SC07-1798]/VIII 1398 is also in the record of this appeal at II 319 as an attachment to the trial court's 2012 "Order Denying Motion for Evidentiary Hearing for Determination of Mental Retardation of the Defendant"; it is also attached to this brief.

The State also notes, as did the trial court (II 315, 317) that Hurst's Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.203 mental retardation motion, requesting a trial judge evidentiary hearing, was untimely, by violating the 90-day provision of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.203(d).

procedurally barred'"; attack on this Court's prior harmless error analysis barred because not litigated in timely manner through rehearing motion); Valle v. State, 70 So.3d 530, 552-553 (Fla. 2011)("substantive claim is procedurally barred because Valle could and should have raised it on direct appeal"); Orme v. State, 896 So.2d 725, 737 (Fla. 2005)("claim [raised] for the first time in this postconviction proceeding ... procedurally barred").

Here, Hurst did not even raise <u>any Atkins</u> claim in his postconviction appeal, as this court noted in <u>Hurst v. State</u>, 18 So.3d 975, 1008 n.9 (Fla. 2009).

ISSUE II is an example of improper belated piecemeal litigation. See Doorbal v. State, 983 So.2d 464, 485 (Fla. 2008) ("this Court has held that '[a] defendant may not raise claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on a piecemeal basis by refining his or her claims to include additional factual allegations after the postconviction court concludes that no evidentiary hearing is required'"; quoting Vining v. State, 827 So.2d 201, 212 (Fla. 2002); Johnson v. State, 536 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Fla. 1988) ("time limitation of rule 3.850 ... serves to reduce piecemeal litigation ..."). 24

²⁴ Consistent with the impropriety of piecemeal litigation, "the doctrine of res judicata not only bars issues that were

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S CORRECT RULING.

If the merits of this issue are reached, it has none. As Hurst correctly concedes (<u>See</u>, e.g., IB 41-43), this Court, multiple times within the past few years, has decided this issue against his position.

In the resentencing proceedings, the trial court correctly followed this Court's precedent in rejecting a defense position that mental retardation as a bar to execution is a jury issue. In the resentencing proceedings, the trial court considered various Atkins claims in open court (See VI 217-20; VIII 774-75) as well as in its written orders (II 313-24, attached; III 583-85, attached).

Concerning the allegation that the jury must determine mental retardation, the trial court (II 315-16) correctly relied on Kilgore v. State, 55 So.3d 487, 510-511 (Fla. 2010), which reasoned and held:

Finally, Kilgore alleges that due process is violated because rule 3.203 does not require a jury to determine whether a defendant is mentally retarded. Again, this claim was addressed and denied in *Nixon*²⁵:

Nixon also claims that under $Ring\ v.\ Arizona$, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 L.Ed.2d 556 (2002), due process

raised, but it also precludes consideration of issues that could have been raised but were not raised in the first case." Florida Dept. of Transp. v. Juliano, 801 So.2d 101, 105 (Fla. 2001); see also Philip Morris USA, Inc. v. Douglas, 2013 WL 978259, *11-12 (Fla. 2013) (discussing res judicata and issue preclusion).

²⁵ Nixon v. State, 2 So.3d 137 (Fla. 2009).

requires that a jury find beyond a reasonable doubt any facts that would make a defendant eligible for the death penalty. We have rejected this argument and held that a defendant 'has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded.' Arbelaez v. State, 898 So.2d 25, 43 (Fla. 2005); see also Rodriguez v. State, 919 So.2d 1252, 1267 (Fla. 2005); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002).

2 So.3d at 145.

Accordingly, <u>Bottoson v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 31, 33 (Fla. 2002), had "conclude[d] that <u>the trial court's finding</u> of no mental retardation is supported by the record and evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing." Subsequently, <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 833 So.2d 693, 695 (Fla. 2002), relied upon the <u>trial court's</u> prior finding in rejecting another mental-retardation claim: "We find <u>Atkins</u> inapplicable in light of the fact that <u>Bottoson already</u> <u>was afforded a hearing</u> on the issue of mental retardation and was permitted to introduce expert testimony on the issue. The evidence did not support his claim."

Accordingly, Rodriguez v. State, 919 So.2d 1252, 1267 (Fla. 2005), reasoned and held that Rodriguez "has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded."

And, accordingly, <u>Arbelaez v. State</u>, 898 So.2d 25, 43 (Fla. 2005); reasoned and held:

Arbelaez cannot feed Atkins through Ring. He contends that, after Atkins, the absence of mental retardation is now an element of capital murder that, under Ring, the jury must consider and find beyond a reasonable doubt. We have rejected such arguments. See Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002) (rejecting the defendant's Atkins claim on

the ground that the trial judge had found the defendant not to be mentally retarded). Other state supreme courts have reached the same conclusion. See, e.g., Head v. Hill, 277 Ga. 255, 587 S.E.2d 613, 619-21 (2003); Russell v. State, 849 So.2d 95, 148 (Miss.2003); State v. Williams, 831 So.2d 835, 860 n. 35 (La.2002). Arbelaez has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded.

Here, under several well-grounded precedents, Hurst "has no right under Ring and Atkins to a jury determination of whether he is mentally retarded," Arbelaez.

Indeed, nothing in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), itself requires that a jury, rather than a judge, decide whether a capital defendant is barred from being executed due to mental retardation.

Arguendo, if Ring applied to Florida, here, Ring could be satisfied by the State proving to the jury at least one aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt. See ISSUE IV infra. This one-aggravator requirement does not require any finding concerning Atkins. Here, the jury's recommendation of death indicates that it found the aggravator.

In sum, if the merits are reached, this court should adhere to its well-grounded precedents, which the trial court correctly followed, and thereby affirm the trial court.

C. HARMLESS ERROR.

If somehow the merits of this issue are reached and found to be otherwise meritorious, any purported error was harmless.

Here, the trial court allowed (See VI 220) 26 defense counsel to fully present his mental-retardation evidence to the jury and argue it, as such, as well as submit to the jury alleged related mental deficiencies (E.g., IX 802-810). Here, the defense essentially obtained the benefit of what this issue contends.²⁷

Further, HAC is overwhelming and the evidence of Hurst's ability when motivated is compelling. See ISSUE I, especially sections entitled "THE EXTREME AGGRAVATION," "RELATIVELY WEAK MITIGATION," and "CONCLUSION: MOTIVATION MORE THAN MITIGATION."

Therefore, any purported error is harmless.

²⁶ In light of mental retardation being a judicially determined legal conclusion, the trial court allowing defense counsel to argue it, as such, rather than limiting the defense to specific aspects of mental deficiencies (such as, purported slowness, brain damage), was overly generous.

If Hurst attempts to argue the 7-to-5 jury vote, he would be misguided because he would be incorrectly assuming that the jury dynamics would change in his favor. See Suggs v. McNeil, 609 F.3d 1218, 1232-33 (11th Cir. 2010) ("Suggs cannot contend that his sentencing judge and jury 'heard almost nothing that ...'"; "Closely divided capital juries do not move in only one direction when presented with new evidence"); Stewart v. State, 37 So.3d 243, 252-53 (Fla. 2010) (7-5 jury vote; "Stewart's speculation about the effect that additional evidence would have had on the jury is insufficient to undermine confidence in his sentence"; citing Derrick v. State, 983 So.2d 443, 462 (Fla. 2008)).

ISSUE III (FINDING OF NO MENTALLY RETARDATION)? DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR IN FINDING THAT HURST FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING HE IS MENTALLY RETARDED (IB 48-63, RESTATED)

In ISSUE III, Hurst attacks the trial court finding that Hurst has not met the criteria for mental retardation (See III 583-85, attached). Hurst slights the well-established and wellgrounded principle of appellate review that is especially court factual findings deferential to trial based Instead, he incorrectly wishes evidentiary hearing. to substitute his evaluation of the evidence for the trial court's. Indeed, here, the trial court, having twice afforded Hurst the opportunity to adduce evidence on mental retardation, has twice found that Hurst has not met his burdens.

The first trial court finding in 2007 (II 320-22, attached), as well as the scope of this Court's remand in <u>Hurst v. State</u>, 18 So.3d 975 (Fla. 2009), procedurally bars this issue, and the second finding in 2012 (III 583-85, attached), if it is reviewed on the merits, should still be affirmed.

A. PROCEDURAL BARS.

1. Scope of Remand.

As the trial court's Order reasoned (II 314-16), this Court, in <u>Hurst v. State</u>, 18 So.3d 975, 1015-16 (Fla. 2009), remanded for a new penalty phase in front of a jury:

We reverse the trial court's order denying relief as to his penalty phase claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in investigation and presentation of mental mitigation, vacate his sentence of death, and remand for a new penalty phase proceeding before a jury, which may consider available evidence of aggravation and mitigation.

In contrast, the mental retardation determination, as a bar to execution, is determined by the trial judge. <u>See</u> Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.203; ISSUE II supra. Therefore, a Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.203 judge determination was beyond the scope of the remand, thereby barring any complaint from Hurst that the trial court's 2012 mental-retardation decision was incorrect.

Moreover, the remand was for the "consider[ation of] available evidence of aggravation and mitigation," which does not include a re-do of a hearing and determination on mental-retardation's per se bar to execution.

See Arbelaez v. State, 898 So.2d 25. 42 - 43(Fla. 2005) (applied abuse of discretion standard; defense raising Ring and Atkins arguments, beyond the scope of this Court's remand for evidentiary hearing on IAC penalty phase claim; "trial court was justified in adhering strictly to our instructions on remand and dismissing the supplemental motion"); Marshall v. State, 976 So.2d 1071, 1079-80 (Fla. 2007)(after a remand, "we conclude the trial court's failure to expand the scope of the inquiry of the other former jurors to include the Thomason claim was not an abuse of discretion"); Way v. State, 760 So.2d 903, 916 (Fla. 2000) ("trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the testimony of these witnesses was beyond the scope of the remand to determine whether a Brady violation occurred"); State v. Knight, 866 So.2d 1195, 1201 (Fla. 2003)("remanded for an evidentiary hearing" on Brady claim; "much of the evidence that Muhammad introduced at the evidentiary hearing and the arguments associated therewith were not germane to the issue at hand"); Spencer v. State, 842 So.2d 52, 70 (Fla. 2003)("trial counsel cannot be faulted for failing to seek proceedings beyond the scope of this Court's remand and the lower court's summary denial was proper"); Swafford v. State, 828 So.2d 966, 978 (Fla. 2002)(disqualification-of-state-attorney "claim ... procedurally barred because it is outside the scope of the narrow determination we ordered upon remand ... we also find no merit in this claim").

2. Untimely Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.203 Motion.

The trial court's 2012 Order also correctly reasoned:

It is clear that rule 3.203 provides for a pretrial motion 1 to determine mental retardation as a bar to execution. Rule 3.203(d) provides that '[t]he motion for a determination of mental retardation as a bar to execution shall be filed not later than 90 days prior to trial, or at such time as is ordered by the court.' In addition, rule 3.203(f) states that a 'claim authorized under this rule is waived if not filed in accord with the time requirements for filing set out in this rule, unless good cause is shown for the failure to comply with the time requirements.'

In summary, because the Defendant is seeking, <u>very shortly</u> <u>prior to the scheduled penalty phase</u>, to raise an issue that is beyond the scope of the Florida Supreme Court's remand and because this Court has previously determined

that the Defendant is not mentally retarded, the motion will be denied.

(II 315, 317, internal footnote omitted; attached)

More specifically, here, on January 12, 2010, defense counsel appeared as Hurst's attorney in the remanded resentencing proceedings. (I 86) Hurst's mental-retardation motion was not filed until February 24, 2012, (II 309) and it was not served until February 20, 2012 (II 312). Hurst filed his motion a scant couple of weeks prior to the March 5, 2012, beginning of the resentencing trial (See V 1,6), and the defense failed to account for years that it waited to file the motion. The motion was untimely and thereby should not be the basis of any relief.

3. Barred by Prior Mental Retardation Proceedings.

As the trial court discussed, its 2007 postconviction order had previously denied Hurst's mental retardation claim:

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